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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

 

CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 v. 

 

DAVID BERNHARDT, in his official 

capacity as Secretary of the U.S. Department 

of Interior, et al., 

 

Defendants, 

 

WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TEXAS, THE 

WILLIAMSON COUNTY 

CONSERVATION FOUNDATION, and 

THE CITY OF GEORGETOWN, TEXAS, 

 

Intervenor-Defendant Applicants. 

 

 

 

 

Case No.:  1:19-cv-1607-KBJ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STIPULATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 This Stipulated Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between 

Plaintiff Center for Biological Diversity and Defendants David Bernhardt, in his official capacity 

as Secretary of the United States Department of the Interior, and the United States Fish and 

Wildlife Service (“Service”) (collectively, “the parties”). In support of this Agreement, the 

parties state as follows: 

 WHEREAS, the Service issued a proposed rule in 2012 to list the Georgetown 

salamander (Eurycea naufragia) and Salado salamander (Eurycea chisholmensis) (collectively, 

“Salamanders”) as endangered species under the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) and to 

designate critical habitat for the species. 77 Fed. Reg. 50,768 (Aug. 22. 2012); 
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 WHEREAS, the Service issued a final rule in 2014 listing the Salamanders as threatened 

species but did not designate critical habitat for the species. 79 Fed. Reg. 10,236 (Feb. 24, 2014) 

(threatened listing effective on March 26, 2014); 

 WHEREAS, under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(3)(A)(i), (b)(6)(C), the Service shall publish a 

final rule designating critical habitat for a threatened species concurrently with the final rule 

implementing the determination that the species is threatened, unless the Service determines that: 

(1) it is essential to the conservation of the species that the rule implementing the critical habitat 

designation be promptly published; or (2) critical habitat for the species is not then determinable, 

in which case the Service may extend the time to publish the rule by not more than one year; 

 WHEREAS, the Service has not yet issued a final rule designating critical habitat for the 

Salamanders; 

 WHEREAS, Defendants received a letter from Plaintiff dated December 3, 2018, and 

titled “Sixty-day Notice of Intent to Sue for Violations of the Endangered Species Act Relating 

to Failure to Designate Critical Habitat for the Georgetown Salamander and the Salado 

Salamander”; 

 WHEREAS, Defendants responded to Plaintiff’s letter on February 28, 2019, stating that 

the Service expected to publish a revised proposed rule designating critical habitat for the 

Salamanders in fiscal year 2020; 

 WHEREAS, on June 3, 2019, Plaintiff filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive 

relief, alleging that Defendants had violated the ESA by failing to designate critical habitat for 

the Salamanders within the timeframe outlined in 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(3)(A)(i), (b)(6)(C), and 

further claiming that Defendants’ failure to designate critical habitat constituted agency action 

unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”); 
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 WHEREAS, the parties, through their authorized representatives, and without any 

admission or final adjudication of the issues of fact or law with respect of Plaintiff’s substantive 

claims or Plaintiff’s demand for attorneys’ fees and costs, have reached a settlement that they 

consider to be in the public interest and just, fair, adequate, and equitable; 

WHEREAS, the parties believe it is in the interest of judicial economy and the parties’ 

best interests to avoid litigation of the issue of attorneys’ fees and costs; 

THEREFORE, the parties hereby stipulate and agree as follows: 

 1. On or before August 12, 2020, the Service shall submit to the Federal Register for 

publication a proposed revised critical habitat designation rule for the Salamanders.  

 2. On or before August 12, 2021, the Service shall submit to the Federal Register for 

publication a final critical habitat designation rule for the Salamanders.  

 3. This Agreement does not limit the Service’s authority or discretion to issue either 

a proposed revised critical habitat designation rule or a final critical habitat designation rule 

concluding that it is not prudent to designate critical habitat for the Salamanders. 16 U.S.C. § 

1533(a)(3)(A)(i), (b)(6)(C); 50 C.F.R. § 424.12(a)(1).  

 4. This Agreement requires Defendants to take the actions described in Paragraphs 1 

and 2 by the deadlines specified in those Paragraphs. The Agreement shall not (and shall not be 

construed to) limit or modify the discretion accorded to the Service by the ESA, APA, or general 

principles of administrative law with respect to the procedures to be followed in making any 

determination required herein, or as to the substance of any determination. No provision of this 

Agreement shall be interpreted as, or constitute, a commitment or requirement that Defendants 

take any action in contravention of the ESA, the APA, or any other law or regulation, either 

substantive or procedural. 
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 5. To challenge any final rule issued in accordance with this Agreement, Plaintiff 

will be required to file a separate action and otherwise comply with applicable legal 

requirements. 

 6.  The order entering this Agreement may be modified by the Court upon good 

cause shown consistent with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, by written stipulation between 

the parties filed with and approved by the Court, or upon written motion filed by one of the 

parties and granted by the Court. In the event that either party seeks to modify the terms of this 

Agreement, including the deadlines specified in Paragraphs 1 and 2, or in the event of a dispute 

arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or in the event that either party believes that the 

other party has failed to comply with any term or condition of this Agreement, the party seeking 

the modification, raising the dispute, or seeking enforcement shall provide the other party with 

written notice of the claim. The parties agree that they will meet and confer (either telephonically 

or in-person) at the earliest possible time in a good-faith effort to resolve the claim before 

seeking relief from the Court. If the parties are unable to resolve the claim themselves, either 

party may seek relief from the Court. 

 7. In the event that Defendants fail to meet the deadlines specified in Paragraphs 1 or 

2, Defendants have not sought to modify the deadlines, and the parties cannot resolve the claim 

pursuant to the meet and confer provisions of Paragraph 6, Plaintiff’s first remedy shall be a 

motion to enforce the terms of this Agreement. This Agreement shall not, in the first instance, be 

enforceable through a proceeding for contempt of court.  

 8. No party shall use this Agreement or its terms as evidence of what does or does 

not constitute a reasonable timeline for making a proposed or final critical habitat designation 
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rule in any other administrative or judicial proceeding regarding Defendants’ implementation of 

the ESA. 

 9. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed or offered in evidence in any 

proceeding as an admission or concession of wrongdoing, liability, or any issue of fact or law 

concerning the claims settled under this Agreement. The Parties do not waive any claim or 

defense they may have concerning the claims settled under this Agreement or any similar claims 

brought in the future by any other party. This Agreement is executed solely for the purpose of 

compromising and settling Plaintiff’s complaint, and nothing herein shall be construed as 

precedent in any other context. 

 10. Defendants agree to settle Plaintiff’s entire claim for attorneys’ fees and costs in 

the above-captioned matter for a total of $6,900 pursuant to the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4). 

11. Plaintiff agrees to accept payment of $6,900 in full satisfaction of any and all 

claims for attorneys’ fees and costs in the above-captioned matter, through and including the date 

of this Agreement. 

12. Plaintiff agrees that receipt of this payment of $6,900 shall operate as a release of 

any and all claims for attorneys’ fees and costs that they possess against the United States, 

including each named Defendant, incurred in the above-captioned matter, through and including 

the date of this Agreement. 

13. Defendants’ payment, as identified in Paragraph 10 above, shall be accomplished 

via electronic payment. Within ten business days after the entry of an order approving this 

Agreement, Plaintiff agrees to provide Defendants’ counsel with the following information 

necessary for Defendants to process the electronic transfer: (i) the name of the payee; (ii) the 

payee’s address; (iii) the payee’s telephone number; (iv) the name of the payee’s bank where the 
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funds will be deposited; (v) the city and state that the bank is located in; (vi) the payee’s bank 

account number; (vii) account type; (viii) bank routing number; (ix) transit number; (x) the 

payee’s tax identification number; and (xi) Plaintiff’s tax identification number. 

14. Defendants agree to submit all necessary paperwork for the processing of the 

payment to the Department of the Treasury’s Judgment Fund Office within 15 business days of 

the Court approving this agreement or Plaintiff providing the necessary information outlined in 

Paragraph 13, whichever is later.  

15. Plaintiff shall send written confirmation of the receipt of payment to Defendants’ 

counsel within 14 days of receiving the payment. 

16. Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s counsel agree to hold Defendants harmless in any 

litigation, further suit, or claim arising from errors not attributable to Defendants that are related 

to the authorized transfer of the agreed-upon settlement amount. 

17. Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted as, or shall constitute, a 

requirement that Defendants are obligated to pay any funds exceeding those available or take any 

action in contravention of the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C. § 1341, or any other law or 

regulation. 

 18. By this Agreement, Defendants do not waive any right to contest fees claimed by 

Plaintiff or Plaintiff’s counsel, including hourly rates, in any future litigation or continuation of 

the above-captioned matter. Further, this Agreement, including the provisions relating to 

attorneys’ fees and costs, has no precedential value in any other context and shall not be cited in 

any other litigation except as necessary to enforce the terms of this Agreement. 

 19. The parties agree that this Agreement was negotiated in good faith and that it 

constitutes a settlement of claims that were denied and disputed by the parties. The Agreement 
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contains all of the agreement between the parties and is intended to be the final and sole 

agreement between the parties. The parties agree that any prior or contemporaneous 

representations or understandings not explicitly contained in this written Agreement, whether 

written or oral, are of no further legal or equitable force or effect.  

 20. The terms of this Agreement shall become effective upon entry of an order by the 

Court approving the Agreement. 

 21. Upon approval of this Agreement by the Court, Plaintiff’s complaint shall be 

dismissed with prejudice. Notwithstanding the dismissal of this action, the parties stipulate and 

respectfully request that the Court retain jurisdiction to oversee compliance with the terms of this 

Agreement and to resolve any motions to modify such terms, until Defendants satisfy their 

obligations under the Agreement. See Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am, 511 U.S. 375 

(1994). 

 22. The undersigned representatives of each party certify that they are fully 

authorized by the party they represent to agree to the Court’s entry of the terms and conditions of 

this Agreement and that they agree to the terms herein.  

 

Dated: February 26, 2020 

     Respectfully submitted, 

 

     JEAN E. WILLIAMS, Deputy Assistant Attorney General 

     SETH M. BARSKY, Chief 

     MEREDITH L. FLAX, Assistant Chief 

 

     /s/ Kaitlyn Poirier  

     KAITLYN POIRIER, Trial Attorney (TN Bar # 034394) 

     U.S. Department of Justice 

     Environment and Natural Resources Division 

     Wildlife and Marine Resources Section 
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     Ben Franklin Station, P.O. Box 7611 

     Washington, D.C. 20044-7611 

     (202) 307-6623 (tel)  

     (202) 305-0275 (fax) 

     kaitlyn.poirier@usdoj.gov 

 

     Attorneys for Defendants 

 

     /s/ Elise Pautler Bennett  

Elise Pautler Bennett  

D.C. Bar No. FL0018  

Center for Biological Diversity  

P.O. Box 2155  

St. Petersburg, FL 33731  

Tel: (727) 755-6950  

Fax: (520) 623-9797  

ebennett@biologicaldiversity.org  

 

/s/ Collette L. Adkins  

Collette L. Adkins  

MN Bar No. 035059X, admitted pro hac vice 

Center for Biological Diversity  

P.O. Box 595  

Circle Pines, MN 55014-0595  

Tel: (651) 955-3821  

cadkins@biologicaldiversity.org 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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